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Q:  What is your union, and what is your posiGon with them? 

JW:  I am a member of the United Nurses of Alberta, and I hold a First Vice President execuGve 

posiGon for Local 37 in Grande Prairie. 

Q:  Where were you born? 

JW:  Dawson Creek, BriGsh Columbia. 

Q:  What was that like? 

JW:  It’s a very small town. I moved to Grande Prairie to do my nursing. I did my first year of 

nursing in Dawson Creek when they had a diploma program there at that Gme. There’s only a 

populaGon of 10,000, so my nursing class was seven. So rather than going to Prince George, I 

went to Grande Prairie to do my degree, and I met my husband and never leZ.  

Q:  So you grew up in Dawson Creek. 

JW:  Grew up in Dawson Creek, graduated there, did my first year of nursing there, then went to 

Grande Prairie, which is only about an hour and 20 minutes away. 

Q:  What did your parents do?  

JW:  My dad was a mechanic and my mom was a stay at home mom. I have three older 

brothers, so she stayed at home with the kids and my dad was a mechanic. 

Q:  Why did you decided to go into nursing? 
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JW:  To be honest, couldn’t tell you. There’s no one else in my family that’s in the medical 

profession. I recall I was working as a custodian at the college at Dawson Creek, Northern Lights, 

and I came across a package that was a nursing package. I thought, oh they’re doing that 

program here. I applied and I got in, and the rest is history.  

Q:  Were you brought up in any specific cultural tradiGon? 

JW:  No. 

Q:  So you came to Alberta because of school, and ended up staying here. 

JW:  Correct. Like I said, at the Gme the diploma program, that’s when nursing was going from 

diploma into a degree, and they were going to take out the diploma program altogether. I 

figured rather than going to Prince George to finish the diploma, I might as well do the degree 

and be done with it. It was only an hour, which was closer to my home town than Prince 

George, which was four hours away. So I went to GPRC [Grande Prairie Regional College] and it 

was in coordinaGon with U of A [University of Alberta], the degree program at the Gme. I took it 

there and it was a smaller classroom as well, but certainly not seven. It was a great experience.  

Q:  Did you get work right away? 

JW:  I started as an undergrad actually, and got a posiGon on the current unit that I work, the 

psychiatric unit at the QE2 [Queen Elizabeth 2]. I worked there my third year as a casual 

undergrad and then I did my senior pracGcum on that same unit and was hired casual right 

away aZer that. 

Q:  What drew you to psychiatric nursing? 

JW:  In my third year nursing we did a pediatric rotaGon, and on the pediatric unit was a 13 year 

old with suicidal ideaGon. I couldn’t understand how that’s possible, that somebody so young 

would have suicidal ideaGon. I asked to have that paGent and I was told, well you haven’t done 
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your mental health, you probably shouldn’t be going in there. I said, well it’s about relaGonship 

building, so I’ll go in and talk to her, that’s all I’ll do. That’s all I did, and from there on that was 

what I wanted to do. 

Q:  So with your degree, are you considered a registered nurse? 

JW:  Yes, a registered nurse with my Bachelor’s Degree. Following obtaining that, I worked in the 

community for one year in the children’s health program for mental health, where I went into 

the schools and did some counseling and met with parents and such. I found that really difficult, 

being a young mom at the Gme, having kids exhibiGng behaviors and then trying to get the 

families together was really difficult. There were a lot of blended families, so you had the step 

mom or the step dad, and they were always at each other. To try and bring them together, I 

found it extremely frustraGng and stressful. So I thought, this isn’t for me; not yet anyway, 

because I’m too new for this. At that Gme I decided to take my mental health cerGficate through 

Mount Royal [Hospital or University?] in Calgary; it was a two-year program. I did my senior 

pracGcum in children’s health, so I followed a child psychiatrist for four months and then I felt a 

bit more comfortable in that area. Then a posiGon came open on the psych unit at the QE2. I 

applied and got the job there. 

Q:  You have kids? 

JW:  I do, I have three children. One has just graduated and is a psychologist, and I have one 

graduaGng this year as well. They’re in Grande Prairie. 

Q:  What’s a typical workday for you? 

JW:  I will say it’s changed from the Gme I started there 20 years ago unGl today. Back then, 

there were so many young 18- and 19-year-olds coming with bipolar or schizophrenia kind of 

symptoms. They’re in university and had their first break, and the next thing you know their life 

has changed forever. I made a lot of connecGons with kids like that, because over the years 

they’ve kept coming back because it’s a chronic condiGon. To this day and age, we see more 
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drug related psychoses, so you don’t really know what’s underneath unGl the drugs clear. Over 

the period of Gme, like I say, I’ve always said, I like legiGmate diagnoses. Not that drug addicGon 

is not legiGmate, but when somebody has no choice when they develop bipolar or 

schizophrenia or depression and anxiety compared to somebody who chooses to take meth or 

cannabis or whatever, but at the same Gme you don’t know what they’re masking. Were there 

symptoms previous to why they’re taking drugs? Are they taking the drugs to mask the voices 

that they had previous? By the Gme they get so involved into the drugs, it’s hard to then scale 

back to say, was there something previous to this or are we dealing with just an addicGon versus 

a mental health condiGon?  

Q:  So it’s changed in terms of the types of things you’re seeing? 

JW:  I’d say the aggression is a lot worse than it was years ago. There’s always been a difference 

if someone’s diagnosed with schizophrenia – I have that rapport with them. They come in 

extremely psychoGc and they’re swearing at you – that to me personally doesn’t affect me. I 

remember, no I know what they’re like when they’re well, versus somebody coming in high as a 

kite on something swearing, gesturing to hit you, or whatever. That affects me a lot differently 

personally in my opinion. I don’t know why it does, other than I think this gentleman doesn’t 

have a choice and I know what he’s like when he’s well, and I know he’s a nice guy and he’d 

never hurt me. However, the voices in his head are telling him otherwise. 

Q:  So you form relaGonships with people, because they keep coming back? 

JW:  It’s a small community. We have our manic season where typically people are more 

elevated in their mood. They come through the doors for whatever reason, whether it be the 

weather or they’re off their meds, they’re coming through the door and exhibiGng those manic 

behaviors and they’re not funcGoning in the community. So then they have to come back in and 

get stabilized on their medicaGons again, and then we send them out again. But they’re the 

same people that I’ve known, like there’s a few that I’ve known since their first break when they 

were 18, and now they’re 28, 29, 30. They come in and, “oh hey, how’s it going?” It’s like, “oh 

why are you back?” In a few days when they’re sekled down, they’re back to their selves again. 
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Q:  How does the context of Grande Prairie impact your work? 

JW:  We have a lot of transient populaGon in Grande Prairie. We have oilfield, we have forestry, 

we have all the work at some Gme in Grande Prairie. We’ve accumulated a lot of people from 

other provinces, from the east, from Edmonton. People heard that there’s work so they come to 

town, so we have a lot of transient people that we have no histories on. If somebody ends up on 

our unit, we have no history other than what we can find on Netcare or whatever. But typically, 

you don’t know what you’re dealing with, versus the people we have a history with. We’re 

seeing a lot more that we don’t know much about. 

Q:  What are some of the health and safety challenges of the job? 

JW:  I think the biggest thing is you don’t know their history. When I can say, I’ve known this 

person for 20 years and in those 20 years there’ve been 30 admissions and never has he been 

aggressive, chances are he never will be aggressive. But somebody that’s coming in, and say 

they’re brought in by the RCMP for doing whatever, you don’t know what to predict. We oZen 

say history is the best predictor of future. If somebody’s coming in and they have an arm length 

of charges and assaults and stuff, chances are he’s quite aggressive and we need to be cauGous 

of that. 

Q:  What issues do you see as part of your job? 

JW:  I’ve been present when we’ve had windows broken. I’ve had paGents come up and 

threaten blatantly that they’re going to kill you, or “you wait ‘Gl I get out of here, if you don’t 

give me what I want, I know what you drive” – those kind of things, threats at the Gme. 

Somebody tore apart our lounge area, ripped off the TV, took a chair and smashed the 

windows, numerous Gmes kicking in the seclusion areas where the doors are secure, kicking to 

extreme where they’ve broken arms or wrists hinng the walls. 

Q:  What’s a seclusion room? 
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JW:  A seclusion room is a room that is secured with magnets of heavy stature that if anybody, 

like that’s where we would put somebody who are at risk for themselves or others. If they’re 

threatening or if they become aggressive, we can put them into a seclusion room to decrease 

their sGmulus and to keep everybody safe at the same Gme, and we can administer medicaGon 

at that Gme. It’s been proven that people that have medicaGon and then are in an area where 

there’s no TV or people talking, where the sGmulus is low, that likely that medicaGon is going to 

kick in a lot faster and it’s going to de-escalate the behavior that they’re exhibiGng.  

Q:  When someone comes in, what’s the process of assessment and further acGons? 

JW:  First they come in through the ER downstairs. We will get a report from the ER before we 

bring the paGent up to our unit as to what brought them in, what behaviors they’re exhibiGng. 

OZen it’s at that point that they should be assessed for violent tendencies, and they could be 

given a security constant at that point if they’re down in emerg. We have a tool now that we 

hadn’t had in the past, that we actually have specific quesGons of violence, aggression, history 

of, so we can score them. When they score a certain number on the matrix – that was a tool 

that we’ve just recently developed – then we can say, okay this gentleman, unGl we can get 

further assessment, requires a security constant. So that provides that extra likle bit of security 

when the paGent does come upstairs. When they come into the ER and are admiked, our unit is 

like no other. Visitors don’t come and go on our unit. We are a non-smoking facility altogether 

and you have to have privileges to go down and smoke; you have to be deemed safe enough to 

go downstairs and smoke. OZen we’ll get paGents up, and if they’re smokers and they all of a 

sudden can’t smoke, that oZen escalates their behavior into yelling, screaming, demanding to 

leave, threats. We do offer nicoGne replacement, but for a smoker that’s not always sufficient. 

Cellphone usage, we don’t allow cellphones on the unit; they have to have privileges to use 

their cellphones. That’s another issue that oZen escalates people’s behavior, because everybody 

uses their phones. But it’s also safety as well, because when people are unwell they oZen post 

things on Facebook about family members and such that aren’t true, but it shows how unwell 

they are. Then we oZen get family members upset: “how do they have their phone? why are 

they posGng this on Facebook? it’s not true and it’s detrimental to us.” So we try to put those 
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kind of restricGons in place. When there’s rules, not always do people like to abide by the rules, 

so when they come up and we clamp down on that, oZen we’ll see an escalaGon in behavior. 

Q:  Is it a locked unit? 

JW:  Yes, we are a locked unit. When they do come on the unit, it’s a locked unit. They go into 

the side room and have an assessment done. We have something like an 18 page mental health 

assessment, so it’s preky thorough as far as history and what brought the paGent in, and 

collateral informaGon from family members and such as to their behaviors in the past so we can 

get a good idea of what we’re dealing with. Not always are people cooperaGve when they come 

in. They may not want to answer the quesGons; they may be angry and say, “I’m not answering.” 

So we just let it go; we don’t push them any further. If they’re agitated, we just back off. If it’s 

something that we think isn’t enough we’ll just say, “Okay you can go to your room.“ We’ll just 

have to seek out a psychiatrist to hopefully do an assessment and determine what medicaGons 

we can give. Not always do they come up in emerg with the medicaGons that we have the 

opportunity to give to calm them down. 

Q:  How many staff are on? 

JW:  From 7 a.m. unGl 11 at night we have four staff members, usually three RN/RPNs, so 

registered nurse, registered psychiatric nurse , an LPN, and one healthcare aid. AZer 11 we 

usually have two RN/RPNs and one LPN and the healthcare aid. It’s an improvement in staff as 

far as healthcare aid; we never had a healthcare aid on our unit before. But they’re unregulated 

members, so their role is totally different. They would never be involved in if we needed to 

restrain somebody. They’d be the runner, so to speak, if there’s something we needed. But we 

only have four staff on. We’ve had a recent increase of beds from 16 to 18, with no increase of 

staff. We have four staff for 18 paGents throughout the day. 

Q:  Is that different from 20 years ago? 
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JW:  We have bobbled around in the last 20 years. At one point we had 26 beds on the same 

unit. Some of the rooms that are now allocated for group rooms were actually paGent rooms. 

We had 26 paGents, we had six staff, then we went down to 22, then we went down to 18, and 

we were down to 10 at one point, then up to 12, then up to 14. We’ve been all over the place. 

The need has always been there for mental health beds, and back when we only had 12 beds 

they were punng paGents on other units, like on medical floors, which created issues on 

medical floors because staff were not feeling comfortable doing mental health status exams, 

and the paGent shouldn’t be taking up a medical bed. So that’s why we over the years now 

pushed the numbers back up. In the new hospital we’ll actually have more than 18 beds; I think 

we’re moving up to 36 beds, including adolescent beds and geriatric beds. 

Q:  So there’s a new hospital being built? 

JW:  Ya, it’s built. My understanding is we should be genng the keys soon. The mental health 

department will not be going over at the same Gme the rest of the hospital is going over. 

They’re actually not going to even start building our wing unGl the keys are handed over for the 

rest of the hospital. We’re actually going to be staying at the old hospital while everybody 

moves over. How that looks, as far as security, laundry, feeding paGents, I have no idea. We’ll be 

the only inpaGent union there. 

Q:  Why did they build a new hospital? What were the issues with the old one? 

JW:  It’s falling apart. It’s old and they don’t want to put any new resources into an old building, 

because we have a fancy new building being built. The ceiling Gles, we’ve had paGents poke out 

the ceiling Gles and crawl up inside the ceiling. We’re on the fiZh floor, so we’re right below 

what they call the penthouse where all the mechanical stuff is. SomeGmes paGents have been 

up there. We’ve had paGents hide alcohol up there, hide drugs up there. It’s just a maker of 

moving the Gle and they just put it up and then they put the Gle back. So there’s a lot of things 

that need to change. 

Q:  Are you a president of your local? 
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JW:  First vice president. 

Q:  What struggles have you had over the years? 

JW:  Over the years it’s progressed into a lot of drug use within the facility, not only on our unit 

but on other floors where paGents’ family members or friends are bringing drugs into the unit. 

There’s a powdered substance found next to the bed, or people overdosing in the bathrooms 

downstairs – those kind of things have escalated in the last few years. Previous to that, on our 

unit I’ve always been, even before I went into the union posiGon on the execuGve, I look back at 

some of the emails I sent and I’m astonished at why I didn’t just do anything. I sent an email 

saying, I noGce this or this person’s being aggressive, or we had two constants and didn’t have 

the staff – all these really unsafe situaGons that I sent an email. They’d respond, “thank you for 

bringing it to our akenGon, we appreciate. . . “, but nothing was ever done. When I look back at 

them, I’m amazed nothing happened sooner.  

Q:  What is the process, if you see something that’s not good? 

JW:  I honestly think unGl that situaGon in 2011 we always talk about, here’s a situaGon. UnGl 

something really happens, nothing’s going to be done, and that’s kind of the precedent that we 

all went with. We report, we report, and yes we’re heard, but the outcome never really 

changes--unGl we had that incident in 2011. Since then, there’s been massive changes that has 

improved for everybody, not only our unit but the enGre hospital.  

Q:  What happened in 2011? 

JW:  We had an incident where we had a paGent that was brought in by the RCMP exhibiGng 

some aggressive behavior in the community. He was brought in and he was wanGng coffee late 

in the evening. We typically don’t give caffeinated beverages aZer a certain period of Gme, 

because we’re also giving sedaGve medicaGon, so it kind of defeats the purpose of giving 

medicaGon if we’re going to just allow them to drink coffee all night. He wasn’t pleased with 
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that response, and he was threatening to kill us. As we were standing at the seclusion door, 

which is supposed to be secure, he started kicking the door. He said, “when I get out of here I’m 

going to kill you.” We had a constant at the door at the Gme. A constant is someone who sits 

and monitors the paGent that’s within the seclusion room, just to ensure that the paGent is safe 

as well. As far as any medical distress or anything, somebody’s right there to deal with it if we 

need to. So he started kicking the door, and as we were standing there speaking to the nurse 

that was sinng there, the door all of a sudden popped open. Our first response was to hold it 

shut, and that’s what we did. Two of us held it shut, two more staff came, and we were holding 

it as he conGnued to kick it, because he realized at that point he had popped it open. We were 

holding it shut with our bodies, and there were four women on. I remember at the Gme 

following, there was probably 60 years of experience behind that door, with the nurses that 

were on. This wasn’t brand new nurses. I was the youngest out of all of them that were on that 

day, as far as experience. I can’t remember if somebody had come through the door and just 

phoned the police. That’s all we could think of doing, because we had security at the Gme but 

our security was elderly ladies and men that were somewhere on seniors pension. I’m not 

kidding, that’s who our security was in the hospital. They were not trained guards, they were 

not physically fit. I’d be scared for them going into a room. So we phoned the police, and the 

police came and we did some statements. He had broke the door, the frame of the door was 

broken. The RCMP said, well we can charge him with mischief and ukering threats. We said, 

well we can’t contain him here; this isn’t safe for us, we can’t contain him here. So they arrested 

him and he leZ the building. They took him to cells that night to go to court the next morning. I 

remember him smiling when he leZ, at us in the nursing staGon.  

Q:  How had the RCMP been able to bring him in? 

JW:  He was brought in on a Form 10. Because he was exhibiGng aggressive behavior and 

threatening to the community that he was in, the police were able to bring him into the 

hospital. He had a history of mental health admissions, so that was their choice of bringing him 

to the hospital versus dealing with him in the community in cells, as opposed to a mental health 

facility. 
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Q:  Form 10 is the designaGon for that kind of thing? 

JW:  The RCMP can uGlize a Form 10. They have to have substanGal evidence to say, this 

gentleman is exhibiGng behaviors in the community or safety risks to other people, that they 

can bring him into a facility. They need to bring him into a designated facility to see a 

psychiatrist. The psychiatrist then does his assessment, and he can deem to discharge him or to 

admit him and cerGfy him under the Mental Health Act. That is what happened in this case – he 

was cerGfied under the Mental Health Act.  

Q:  Were the security people at the Gme commissionaires or guards? 

JW:  I believe their term was commissionaires, but they wore the blue uniforms like Paladin 

does now. But they had nothing; they had radios, that was about it. 

Q:  So the cops took him away to get ready for court the next day. What happened next? 

JW:  We were all relieved that he was gone, unGl the next day when we got the call that he was 

going to be returned to the facility. Right away the union got involved. I remember the president 

and the north district rep at the Gme was phoning every person from the unit, “okay this is 

what’s happening, what are your thoughts? Are you comfortable with this person coming 

back?” I remember genng that call at home, because I was off that day. I’m like, “you’re kidding 

me, how can he be coming back? He threatened us, he kicked out the door.” I was so bothered 

by it, I started calling people – “did you get the call? what do you think of this?” I was in close 

communicaGon with the unit and the staff that were on that day. The next morning when they 

were told he was coming back, the decision was made that we’re going to take the rest of the 

paGents off the unit and we’re not going to provide care, because he’s coming back to the same 

environment where we couldn’t contain him in the first place. When he came back onto the 

unit, the decision from the union was: we’re not going to look aZer him but we will look aZer 

everybody else. We had at the Gme I can’t remember how many other paGents, I want to say at 

least a dozen other paGents, that they took down to the lower level. Five South is on the fiZh 

floor of the hospital, the highest floor, so we took them down to the lower level to the staff 
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lounge. They took the med cart down there, so everybody was cared for, they had their 

medicaGons, they had staff there. It leZ the one paGent on the unit, which they refused to care 

for. I want to say the nursing supervisor at the Gme, but nursing supervisors weren’t in scope at 

the Gme, they were out of scope. So the nursing supervisor was providing care as well as the 

LPNs, the LPN float was providing care. It’s my understanding that the LPNs were told at that 

Gme that they didn’t have the right to refuse work, that they had to provide care for this 

gentleman.  

Q:  Who told them? 

JW:  Their union told them that. 

Q:  When he breached the door and the commissionaires came up to assess, were any of the 

commissionaires injured? 

JW:  It was actually the day previous to him actually breaching the door. He was in the room. We 

had at that Gme two seclusion rooms so we could alternate; if he made one a mess, we’d move 

him into the other and have it cleaned so they always have a clean environment. He was 

actually standing in the corner and I remember him down like a football tackle, bent over with 

one hand on the ground waiGng for them to come through the door. They opened the door with 

him in that stance, and he came at them. One of them I believe injured their leg or arm. When I 

think back, I would never have entered the room or allowed security, or commissionaires at that 

Gme, it was so unsafe. But they felt they could go in and deal with him, and got injured. 

Q:  What was the policy in administering medicaGon? Did the commissionaires go in first, or did 

the nurse go in first? 

JW:  I believe the commissionaires went in before us. They changed the policy when we got the 

peace officers. A lot of policies have changed around the medicaGon. At the Gme, I honestly 

don’t remember who went in the room. But if the nurses went in the room first, they came in 

aZer. But like I said, they were not equipped to be looking aZer any aggressive situaGon, 
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because they were so fragile. One gentleman was limping around; he had just had a hip 

replacement. That’s what our security was.  

Q:  What happened aZer the LPNs were told they couldn’t refuse work? 

JW:  They conGnued to provide him care. The psychiatrist at the Gme refused to decerGfy him, 

because that’s what we were asking to do. Because he was cerGfied is why the judge 

determined that he’d be returned to us. We’ve always said, we’re not a forensic unit. We don’t 

have the capacity, like Edmonton does, to look aZer forensic paGents, nor do we have forensic 

psychiatrists on our floor. The psychiatrist refused to decerGfy him, so that resulted in him 

remaining cerGfied on our unit. The next discussion that the union had was, okay we can’t look 

aZer him here, he needs to be sent out. So then they looked at sending him out to Edmonton, 

and I believe it was within 72 hours they finally flew him out to Edmonton to a more secure unit 

that could look aZer him. 

Q:  Did you actually invoke your right to refuse work? 

JW:  The staff that were on that day did invoke their right to refuse work. But also taking care of 

the other paGents, they made sure the other paGents were taken care of. They weren’t refusing 

work for that unit, but that specific paGent. 

Q:  What happened aZer that? 

JW:  The nurses that were on that day were suspended. They got a leker put on their file 

through CARNA or I think one was CRPNA, which is the psychiatric associaGon. So they got 

lekers put on their file and they were suspended without pay. 

Q:  For refusing work? 

JW:  Correct. 
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Q:  What was the union’s response? 

JW:  Well we weren’t going to take that lightly, so we appealed. It was a lengthy process with a 

lot of discussions and a lot of almost like court appeal hearings in front of the OccupaGonal 

Health and Safety. It was very difficult. I remember being asked quesGons like, is it common that 

there’s abuse on the unit? Is it common that there’s violence? Is it typical of a paGent? In some 

cases there is, but it doesn’t substanGate that that’s what my job is, is that I go to a workplace 

expecGng that there be violence and nothing in place to protect us.  

Q:  Is the aggression verbal or physical? What are we talking about when we’re talking about 

violence in the workplace? 

JW:  Aggression can be both verbal and physical. We have all capaciGes on that unit as far as 

that goes, and many different degrees. Whether it be broken windows and they’re taking it out 

on the window versus you and it could’ve very easily been you, when they’re not happy and 

they smash the window next to you, or call you every name under the sun, or threaten you, or 

know what car you drive, or those kind of things. The aggression, it doesn’t maker if it’s verbal 

or physical, the impact is the same. 

Q:  Can you talk about the impact? 

JW:  I think in this specific circumstance we had a nurse that never returned to nursing aZer that 

incident. Like I said, it was brought forth to us that it’s the norm, that it’s something that’s 

normalized that we deal with that kind of aggression. It shouldn’t be. Like I said, I think the 

impact of not only the incident itself – and I can recall the incident like it was yesterday – but 

the support that you get in coming to work every day and ensuring that this workplace is a safe 

place to be, and that you’re there for the best interests of the paGents. It’s hard to be there for 

the best interests of the paGents when you’re afraid to come to work.  

Q:  What was the appeal process? 
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JW:  Everybody that was involved or quesGoned by the appeal, it was basically like a court 

senng. We had a lawyer for the UNA [United Nurses of Alberta] side and the employer had a 

lawyer on their side. Hearing some of their responses was disheartening because not all was, in 

my opinion, accurate. Our emoGons were downplayed a bit as far as what we should’ve done, 

or that we neglected this paGent, when in fact that wasn’t the case. We were advocaGng for our 

safety. When somebody’s threatened, whether it be in the community or whether it be in your 

workplace, I don’t think there’s any difference. 

Q:  Did a resoluGon come out of the appeal? 

JW:  AZer the appeal, the OH&S commikee said that we were within our right to refuse, and all 

of the suspensions and lekers were reversed. There were several noGficaGons to the employer: 

what they should’ve done properly that was absent from that whole system of reporGng of 

refusal to work. 

Q:  What changes did you see as a result of this? 

JW:  As a result, we now have peace officers onsite on every shiZ. We actually now have two 

peace officers and, as of last year, moved up to two Paladin guards. We went from three to four, 

and that was only based on the number of calls to our unit and to the ER, ER being the point of 

entry for all the paGents in our unit. In one month we had 100 calls, whether it be stand-bys or 

whether it just be assisGng with somebody in the seclusion room. We were for the longest Gme 

advocaGng for a security just for our unit, so we had that added security just for our floor. We’ve 

had many arguments as far as, “well it’s not a jail, we don’t want to see it as a jail.” Their answer 

to that was to add another guard to the hospital, which is fair enough. Their response Gme is a 

lot quicker than it had been in the past. 

Q:  What did it feel like to go through that process? 

JW:  To be honest, if I don’t think about it, I’m good. But the more I think about it, honestly if I 

didn’t enjoy what I do and I didn’t have the support from UNA at the Gme and the colleagues 
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that I was on with, I don’t know if I would conGnue there. I advocate, ever since that Gme, 

anything comes to me and I’m taking it to wherever it goes. I don’t have any regret of reporGng 

anything I’ve reported. I think every Gme I report something, there’s substanGaGon to why I’m 

doing it. Over the years, I think there’s been an increase in listening to Jennifer Ward when my 

name comes on an email. Since that Gme, as of last year, I took the assistant head nurse 

posiGon on Five South. It’s a change, because I’m union on this side and this is more the 

leadership, but I’m sGll in scope. But I think I’m managing it well overall. Anything comes my 

way, anything needs repair, the doors are not doing this or whatever, I’m right there to report it 

and get something done about it.  

Q:  Where the doors addressed? 

JW:  The doors were addressed. We actually replaced all the doors. We actually now have 

increased to four seclusion rooms, but one is used as a de-escalaGon room. It has speakers that 

go into it and a couple chairs, so we can stream music into it or meditaGon and that kind of 

thing. But the doors were replaced and increased the magnets; I think we got an extra one or 

two magnets on each one. They were special order doors from the U.S. that took a while to 

come, but when they came, I don’t think anybody’s coming through those doors. They’re preky 

sustainable.  

Q:  When the iniGal incident happened and he was returned to the hospital, had the doors been 

fixed or were you dealing with the same situaGon where the seclusion room was not secure? 

JW:  Yes, the doors had not been fixed. It took quite a while for the doors to be replaced, 

because they had to be special ordered through the U.S. When the paGent was returned to the 

hospital, they put him in a different room than the one he breached, but same amount of 

capacity as far as the magnets. They also treated him, like he was given whatever he asked for, 

so his behavior was very calm and it didn’t reflect well on what we were saying. But at the same 

Gme, when you’re given what you want, you have no reason to be upset. So he was like night 

and day. He was given coffee at 3 in the morning. We tried to say, this is not what we should be 

doing; he’s been given this medicaGon.  
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Q:  Does gender play into it? 

JW:  We’ve experienced some preky severe aggression from females as we have from males. I 

don’t think you can differenGate one being more severe than the other. I recall a bipolar paGent 

who was well into his late 60s that had more strength and was able to liZ eight of us off him. I 

think when somebody’s ill or presenGng psychosis, their strength is beyond what anybody can 

imagine for their size or weight or gender. As far as male staff members on the floor, we do have 

a couple. I don’t think that makes a difference at all either. We’re trained in de-escalaGon and 

nonviolent crisis, different holds and stuff, that we should all be comfortable doing if we’re 

required to do it. I don’t think it should maker on the basis of male staff. 

Q:  What is the purpose of nonviolent crisis intervenGon training? 

JW:  There’s a couple different purposes. The main purpose is that if someone comes up behind 

you and grabs your hair from behind, that you’re able to get out of certain holds. But it’s also in 

combinaGon with a coworker, if somebody’s escalaGng, to remove them from the area and 

place them in a more secure area such as a seclusion room. However, it’s very rare in my years 

that that has ever happened where it’s done so quietly and just a couple people are able to do 

it. Usually when you try to de-escalate somebody you try it verbally first, but not always does 

that help. The aggression oZen kicks in way quicker than we could ever use nonviolent crisis for. 

Q:  Do you have a health and safety commikee at your workplace? 

JW:  Yes, we do. 

Q:  During the events of 2011? 

JW:  I believe we did at the Gme. I wasn’t part of the commikee at that Gme, but I do believe we 

had a commikee at the Gme. 
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Q:  Was there any involvement from them in the refusal to work? 

JW:  Not to my knowledge, no. But to be honest, I was more involved with what UNA and the 

unit was dealing with. 

Q:  How did you get involved in the union? 

JW:  Actually the nurse that has never returned to work aZer that incident, she was on the PRC 

commikee at the Gme, which is Professional Responsibility Commikee. She was my preceptor 

when I graduated and did my fourth year there. She was my preceptor and she’s a really smart 

lady. She said, you’d be really good at this. So I started going to the PRC commikees, and there’s 

also a lot of reporGng there that’s simultaneous with OH&S and a professional responsibility 

concern. As I was invesGgaGng more and talking to other people throughout the hospital about 

things that were going on, I’m like, “This is wrong. Why are we short staffed?” That’s when 

things happen, is when you’re short staffed and you have an episode happen. So the more I got 

involved in that, it just kind of escalated from there, then OH&S. Like I said, as far as safety on 

the unit, I’ve always advocated for safety on the unit, and sent a number of emails over my 

career. That’s kind of where it evolved. Then I was asked, “well do you want to do the vice 

president?” I’m like, “Well I really don’t have Gme, I’m busy.” But then I put in my name, and I 

think it’s been going on seven or eight years that I’ve been in that posiGon. Then last year, even 

though I’ve been a very strong advocate of OH&S, I stepped down from the PRC commikee and 

moved over to the OH&S commikee, I guess where I belong.  

Q:  What’s the PRC? 

JW:  The Professional Responsibility Commikee. We have forms that staff can fill out when they 

have a concern, whether it be short staffing, whether it be a staff mix, based on how many RNs 

and LPNs, wasn’t a safe situaGon. Those kind of things get brought to the commikee with the 

employer and UNA, so we have that equal amount of employees versus management on the 

other side. We discuss the situaGon, how it happened and how we could recGfy it from 

happening again, what needs to change. We kind of come up with soluGons as a whole to 
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change those things. A lot of it comes down to staff. Probably 80 percent of PRCs have to do 

with staffing and the lack of, or not replacing, or not able to find anybody and then they replace 

with somebody with less experience or knowledge. Then something happens. That’s basically 

what we deal with across the board.  

Q:  With the PRCs are you also advocaGng for paGent safety? 

JW:  Absolutely. When you have a shortness of staff, or when you have no charge nurse, or 

you’re having several other people that may not meet the same level of experience and 

educaGon, it impacts paGent care ulGmately. If there’s only four staff on and you’re supposed to 

have six, somebody’s going to lose out as far as care. They’re not going to get the care they’d 

normally get if you had sufficient staffing. 

Q:  Are PRCs born out of legislaGon or collecGve agreement? 

JW:  It’s out of the UNA collecGve agreement that we meet with our employer and develop a 

commikee for professional responsibility.  

Q:  What’s the difference between a PRC and a Health and Safety Commikee? 

JW:  Health and Safety Commikee, there’s a lot more to it as far as equipment. There’s some 

overlap too where I’ve submiked to both commikees because I’m not sure which one it should 

be going to. But most of it around health and safety is employees’ safety as well as paGents’ 

safety. Like I say, if it has anything to do with equipment, like the doors being able to be 

breached, that’s a safety risk not only to the other paGents on the unit but to the staff as well.  

Q:  Was the PRC bargained in? 

JW:  Yes, it’s in our contract. 

Q:  How does the PRC actually operate? 
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JW:  What the Professional Responsibility, like say somebody’s brought forth a conGnued 

shortness of staff and it’s been ongoing where there’s been vacancies that are not filled, so 

they’re chronically working on schedules that have holes in the schedule. You know that next 

week Friday you’re working short because that posiGon hasn’t been filled, it hasn’t been posted, 

so they’re hoping casuals will pick up. That’s not taking into account any sick calls that happen, 

and oZen that then escalates the concern even higher because you’re already going in short 

and if somebody phones in sick, you’re not able to replace that person. The impact when you 

come in to work, you might be the only RN with two LPNs and they might give you an extra 8CA 

to help with 16 surgical paGents on the unit. How are you going to manage 16 surgical paGents 

and do assessments, when 8CAs don’t do assessments? They could be there to help turn or do 

personal care, but as far as actual assessments, those assessments aren’t going to be as 

thorough or as Gmely as they would normally be if you had sufficient staffing. 

Q:  Did the PRC process kick in before the incident in 2011? Were you registering concerns prior 

to that that weren’t being addressed? 

JW:  I know that prior to the incident itself, there was an OH&S in for a previous paGent that had 

breached a door on the same unit, on our unit. It happened right before Christmas and nothing 

was done about it because it was at Christmas and there was nobody there to look into the 

incident. 

Q:  On November 21, 2010 you lodged a PRC. 

JW:  We had a paGent that we had to put into a seclusion room. He had come to the nursing 

staGon, and at the Gme there was a nurse inside the nursing staGon and I was standing just 

outside and he was between us. He was very threatening, very paranoid. He had been brought 

in by the RCMP as well. He was disrobing in the community, and we’re not sure what his history 

was, but a very unfriendly fellow. At the Gme, the two of us were on and the other lady was on 

a break. There was no way for her to get to the phone to call security and there was no way for 

me to move without him, like he was right there. We couldn’t close the doors, we couldn’t do 
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anything. Eventually he walked away out into the lounge, which gave us the opportunity to 

phone the police. I don’t recall we even stopped at phoning security, we phoned the RCMP. 

They had come to get him back into the room, into the seclusion room. Out of that incident an 

OH&S was filed and I believe a PRC at the Gme. We have a red bukon that we can push that 

announces emergency assist to our unit. We used to only have one out where I was, but I was 

within no proximity to get it. Since that incident, we now have one within the nursing staGon for 

the nurse who’s inside the nursing staGon to push. So that was something that had changed out 

of that outcome. But again another situaGon where there’s only a couple staff on and in a 

situaGon where it could’ve went either way. I believe in the end he was discharged to the RCMP 

the next day. 

Q:  Has there been a change in the type of paGents that are admiked? 

JW:  Yes. We are the only hospital in the north that is a designated facility. We’re the only 

hospital north of Edmonton that takes all the paGents that are cerGfied under the Mental 

Health Act. If you’re in any outlying community and are brought in by the RCMP and the doctor 

assesses you, he cerGfies you and then you need to be transferred to our hospital for 

assessment. We get everybody from the north that’s exhibiGng any type of behavior that 

warrants RCMP intervenGon or family intervenGon to bring them into the hospital. As I 

menGoned earlier, with the increase of drug use in the communiGes, that is a huge factor in a 

lot of paGents that come through the door that are exhibiGng aggressive behavior. But like I 

said, we’re not sure what the underlying features are unGl that clears. But when they iniGally 

come in, there’s a good 40 hours of Gme when they can exhibit extreme aggression. We’re the 

only unit in the hospital that has secure rooms to house and contain paGents to keep everybody 

safe. There is what they call a room downstairs in the emergency department, but it’s not 

remotely comparable to our rooms upstairs. OZen when they come in, there’s usually a preky 

quick transiGon if we can accommodate another paGent to come right up to our seclusion 

room.  

Q:  It sounds like in 2010 there was an incident prior to that refusal. How long did the process 

take, from start to finish? 
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JW:  A long Gme, at least a year I think by the Gme it went through all the appeals and 

discussions. 

Q:  And how long did it take for the resulGng acGons to be implemented? 

JW:  I remember that the peace officers were implemented in May; I don’t think it was May of 

the same year. It was the following year I think that the peace officers were implemented as 

security in the hospital.  

Q:  How long did the doors take? 

JW:  The doors took a long Gme to come. Like I said, they were special doors and they came 

from the U.S. I think there were a lot of hoops they needed to jump through to get all that 

through. But we did finally get the doors, and like I said, they are preky secure as far as magnet 

wise, about 5,500 pounds I think. 

Q:  What changes would you like to see? 

JW:  I think when there’s a concern expressed the first Gme, I think it should be taken as 

seriously as if we were refusing. I don’t think there should be a delay, or “we’ll look into it,” or 

“this person’s away.” There should be somebody allocated to look aZer these circumstances, 

and not have a delay in the response when there’s a concern expressed.  

Q:  What support did you feel from management during this process? 

JW:  I would say I didn’t feel support from management at the Gme, because it felt like. . . They 

brought in other people to do our care for the paGent. In essence, by allowing the paGent 

whatever he asked for, it just came across as if we were making a big deal out of nothing, which 

wasn’t the case. Like I say, when we went through the appeal, just hearing other versions of 

what they felt was going on, like I said, I don’t agree with what they were saying. And to think 
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that this is our work environment, it’s the norm to have aggression and violent paGents. It’s not 

the norm and shouldn’t be the norm that anybody be expected to come to work and expect a 

violent interacGon. 

Q:  What kind of support did you get from the union? 

JW:  As I said, they were phenomenal in supporGng as far as the decision making that “no, we’re 

not going to look aZer him.” And the follow-through, that year and a half or whatever Gmeline it 

took, and the money that it took to go through all those appeals. It was wonderful. Like I said, I 

felt very supported by the union as far as that goes, as far as having someone listen and say, no 

you don’t have to come to work and expect this to happen; this is not the norm. It was very 

upliZing. 

Q:  Do you think it would’ve gone different had you not had the union? 

JW:  Absolutely. I think it wouldn’t have happened, the right to refuse wouldn’t have happened. 

A lot of people were scared of the ramificaGons. When they heard that there were nurses that 

exhibited their right, there were lekers. It was like, “oh my goodness, this is my career, I can’t 

lose my job.” There was a lot of fear, and that shouldn’t be the case. We shouldn’t have to be 

fearful of losing our jobs to express our right to have a safe workplace.  

Q:  What was the role of CARNA and CRPNA, if any? 

JW:  They do have a role, but honestly I can’t speak to that. I wasn’t one that got a leker or 

anything, so I can’t speak to what their role is.  

Q:  How do achieve work/life balance? 

JW:  Every Gme I went off on maternity leave I went back to school. I did my Masters Degree 

with my last child, and aZer having my last child, I was working permanent nights. Throughout 

my Masters Degree I did what they call a weekend worker. I actually worked every weekend – 
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Friday, Saturday, Sunday night – had my week off during the week, when I worked on my 

Masters Degree. I was paid full Gme, because weekends and nights are the most difficult shiZs 

to cover for nurses. So I did that for a period of Gme unGl they revoked that, because they were 

paying me when I wasn’t there apparently, so that was part of the reason that was their vote. 

Then I conGnued on permanent nights for 14 years, so for the enGre life of my last child. I was 

available during the day, may not have got as much sleep as I’d liked to, but I was available 

during the day for the kids if they needed to get a hold of me. My husband travels a fair bit but 

he’s in town a fair bit too, so we balanced between us. Him and I were like ships in the night. I’d 

get home in the morning when he was heading out the door, and then we’d have supper 

together and I’d head out the door to work. So it was ships in the night, which is difficult. I’d say 

that in the last ten years I really incorporated fitness into my lifestyle. I go to the gym every day, 

which I think plays a huge role in my mindset and my stress levels as far as how to deal with 

things. Then in the last year I did a total flip from permanent nights to Monday to Friday 7-3. My 

husband sees me all the Gme, which is like a new marriage. It’s like, “who are you?” My 

daughter has never known me to not work a nightshiZ, so it’s been a drasGc change. So far, I 

think it’s for the best. I think it works well. But definitely I was fortunate enough to have a 

permanent night rotaGon. I couldn’t imagine bouncing back and forth from days to nights – that 

would be a lot more difficult I think. It’s a balance, but I think you need to find something 

outside work and outside your family to also have a focus on, versus just be family and just be 

work. Work can engulf you, as in many occasions it does me. I like to see a job done and I like to 

see it seen through. Not always can I do that Monday to Friday in an eight hour day. I just need 

to remind myself that it’ll be there tomorrow when I get there. 

Q:  Some say that union involvement can hinder your career. Since the right to refuse was 

invoked, how has management respected you? 

JW:  I’ve heard that as well, and that was part of my hesitancy going into any commikees. You’re 

a target as soon as you get involved and start speaking up. But I spoke up long before I was in a 

union posiGon. I spoke up prior to that whenever I had a concern, so I didn’t see that so much. 

However, there were Gmes where everybody would be bringing it to me, so I’d be bringing 

forward on behalf of everybody else. I think iniGally it was kind of worrisome. “Why can’t they 
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come and speak for themselves?” I was asked that. I said, “Well, because maybe they can’t 

speak as well as I can and they just want me to bring this forth.” I was just being respectul and 

professional in my communicaGons to them, and I think over the years it has been a building 

relaGonship with most of the directors. I see them anywhere and they’re saying “Hello” and 

“How are you?“ – CEO and everybody. It’s just a respectul communicaGon. I’m not trying to be 

detrimental and I understand what they’re trying to do; however, when safety is a concern, then 

that’s something that everybody should be aware of and dealing with, not just management or 

just the union. We should be working together as a team to recGfy that. It’s all for the best 

interests of the paGents. 

Q:  Do you have advice for those who might be facing something dangerous? 

JW:  I think to noGfy your manager right away that you are not comfortable in the situaGon. If it 

can be recGfied at that level, that would be great. But if it’s not recGfied to the best that you 

feel, then definitely contact your union, if you have a union to contact, and try to resolve it. Be 

familiar with what your rights are. I think that’s another big thing: that a lot of people don’t 

know what their rights are under the OccupaGonal Health and Safety with their right to refuse. I 

think if you make yourself familiar with what the legislaGon is, and uGlize that to back and 

substanGate what you’re saying, I think that’ll be a benefit.  

Q:  Is there anything else you’d like to talk about? 

JW:  No, I don’t think so. 

Q:  During the right to refuse, did management withhold any informaGon about the doors from 

the nurses? 

JW:  I do recall something along that line, but not the specifics. I do think that one had more 

magnets on it than the other, or something to that degree. 

Q:  What happened? 
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JW:  He walked onto the unit, he had a big smile on his face. He walked past the. . .  

About a year later the same paGent was brought back to the unit. It was a very brief admission. 

He walked past the seclusion room door that he had breached, and commented on how he had 

kicked that door open in the past. He also had, in the previous admission, I remember him 

calling me a name from, he related to me that I looked like somebody from a newscast or 

something. A year later he was like, “Oh it’s you,” and he used that name again. I don’t like using 

the word trigger, but definitely he had awareness of what had happened and it brings it all back.  

Q:  You’re sGll feeling the impact. 

JW:  Oh absolutely. I’ve never been assaulted on the unit in all the years I’ve been there. I’m 

very conscienGous of my stature, where I am in proximity, and reading behaviors. There’s only 

once since then that I was assaulted by a different paGent, but nothing relates back to that 

specific incident. It doesn’t compare. I don’t know why it doesn’t compare, because the physical 

impact that I had the last Gme doesn’t compare to what we endured. I don’t know what it is. I 

couldn’t tell you what the difference is, other than that threat seemed harsher. I don’t know.  

Q:  When he was readmiked a year later, was he put in a seclusion room? 

JW:  No, a year later there was. . . No, did he? You know how many windows have been kicked 

out of that unit, Dewey? You do that one. I do remember it, I do. See, I’m having post traumaGc 

reacGon. 

Q:  It’s important that there was a psychological impact. 

JW:  I think when I say I was pushed by another paGent and that aggression didn’t impact me as 

much as the impact from that, whether it be psychological in my mind of what the outcome 

could’ve been, I don’t know. But like I said, to be physically pushed up against a wall was 

traumaGc but does not compare to that episode in 2011.  
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Q:  Is the threat sGll there? 

JW:  It’s there every day. Although peace officers are in place, we have personal panic alarm 

bukons, we have the red bukons and emergency bukons in two places now versus one place – 

there are things in effect. But you never know what’s coming through the door. We have so 

many, like I previously menGoned, transient paGents without known histories. We’ve had a lot 

of people come to us that have since been charged with murder, really severe charges. You think 

what could they have done here. The circumstance could’ve been a lot different. 

Q:  How do people go about refusing unsafe work? 

JW:  There had to be a lot of planning, because there were other paGents we needed to look 

aZer. How are we going to administer their medicaGons, how are we going to ensure that they 

get their meals? If they’re not allowed outside, how are we going to monitor the ones that can 

go outside without hampering their stay? So there was a lot of planning went into that. I 

remember Roxanne calling me and saying, “Okay, this is what we’re going to have in place. Do 

you agree? Would you feel comfortable if this is the case?” I remember saying “No, that’s not 

enough; he shouldn’t be there. It doesn’t maker what you’re going to put in place there, we 

can’t contain him.” I remember they hired two security guards from the community that were 

these big, I can’t remember, they had a name for them, but these two big burly guys. I’m 

thinking, but what’s that going to change? It’s not changing the outcome that he’s sGll not 

secure in that room. And they’re going to do what if he comes out? Restrain him and put him 

where? In a room that we can’t contain him. The outcome, they just weren’t genng what we 

were saying as far as we can’t contain him. It doesn’t maker what you provide us to make us 

safe if we can’t contain somebody. That’s the purpose of the rooms. 

Q:  How was the right to refuse put forth to the employer? 

JW:  I don’t remember. I know that Roxanne was in charge of all that. 
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Q:  Did you ever get a report back? As part of the work refusal process, the employer is 

supposed to do a wriken report and give it to the workers. Did you ever see the wriken report? 

JW:  I don’t recall ever seeing a wriken report of the refusal, no. 

[ END ] 
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